No. 17-0432 


IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

At Charleston 


L&D INVESTMENTS, INC., a West Virginia corporation, 

RICHARD SNOWDEN ANDREWS, JR., 


MARION A. YOUNG TRUST, 

CHARLES A. YOUNG, DAVID L. YOUNG, and 


LAVINIA YOUNG DA VIS, Successors of Marion A. Young Trust, 


Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners 


v. 

MIKE ROSS, INC., and 

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION, 


Defendants Below, Respondents. 


On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia 

Civil Action No. 13-C-528-2 


PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Assignments of Error: 

I. 	 The Trial Court erred as Petitioners were entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter 
of law as they were separately assessed for their undivided interests in the Mineral 
Tract and had paid all taxes due both before and after the 2001 tax sale to Respondent 
Mike Ross, Inc. [MRI] rendering MRl's tax Deed void. State v. Allen, 65 W.Va. 335, 
64 S.E. 140 (1909). 

II. 	 The Trial Court erred when it did not find that MRI intentionally and/or recklessly 
failed to provide actual notice to Petitioners when Petitioners' ownership interests in 
the Mineral Tract, and their identities and current addresses were discoverable in 
records filed in the Harrison County Courthouse prior to the statutory period to 



identify all interested persons entitled to notice of forfeiture, and that such failure 
rendered MRl's tax Deed void or voidable as such State action violated the due process 
clauses of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions. 

A) 	 The State had knowledge of the names and addresses of the Petitioners 
from its own records filed with the Assessor and the State Tax 
Department, and was required under controlling precedent ofthis Court 
and the United States Supreme Court, to provide actual notice to 
Petitioners irrespective of the tax sale purchaser's failure to do so, even 
though MRI, the tax sale purchaser, also failed as well, and the Trial 
Court erred in finding no such breach of this Constitutional duty. 

B) 	 The Trial Court granted Summary Judgment to MRI when there existed 
genuine issues of disputed material fact regarding whether the 
Petitioners were intentionally and/or recklessly denied due process notice 
by the tax sale purchaser in an effort to keep the benefit ofits bargain of 
purchasing 1000 acres of valuable mineral property for $6,000.00. 

III. 	 The Trial Court misapplied the three year redemption period contained in West 
Virginia Code §UA-4-4, by finding this statutory provision cured all defects in the tax 
sale process including a tax sale purchaser's intentional and reckless failure to provide 
required due process notice to Petitioners and co-tenants, even when the rightful owner 
is paying real property taxes on separate, double assessments which are not otherwise 
delinquent; the State and MRI are estopped to assert that the tax Deed is valid and/or 
the discovery rule applies when the State has facilitated the forfeiture of Petitioners' 
property without fair compensation and actual notice could have been reasonably 
provided prior to forfeiture; stated differently, can the State allow its tax sale 
purchaser charged with providing Constitutional notice, to knowingly fail to provide 
such required notice hoping that in three years such conduct will ripen an 
unconstitutional act into a lawful one? Does such deliberate conduct by a tax sale 
purchaser render the tax Deed void or voidable as a matter of law, or alternatively, 
does it create a question of fact for a jury regarding whether the failure to provide 
notice was deliberate? 

A) 	 The both estoppel and the discovery rule apply to suspend the three year 
redemption period/statute of limitations under the unique facts of this 
case, as unlike the usual delinquent taxpayer who has a presumed 
realization that they have failed to pay their property taxes, Petitioners 
were paying all real property taxes as assessed by the County Assessor 
both before and after the tax sale and would have had no reason to 
believe that their property was going to be forfeited by the State through 
its delinquent tax sale procedure; to hold otherwise casts serious doubt 
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as to the Constitutionality of the tax sale statutes as applied in this case. 

B) 	 IfArticles 3 and 4 of Chapter llA of the tax sale statutory scheme, as 
applied to the facts of this case, would al10w a forfeiture of Petitioners' 
Mineral Property then such statutes violate the due process and taking 
clauses of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions. 

IV. 	 The Trial Court granted Summary Judgment for the tax sale purchaser, MRI, even 
though MRI intentionally and/or recklessly failed to provide required notice to the co
tenants who owned an interest in the Mineral Tract sold by the State which failure 
violated controlling precedent of this Court in Littell v. Mullins. 

V. 	 MRI engaged in the unauthorized practice of law, by hiring non-licensed persons to 
provide legal opinions regarding who should receive due process notice of the tax sale, 
violating the law and public policy of this State and substantially contributing to the 
Petitioners being deprived of their constitutional rights in the taking of their Mineral 
Tract. 

VI. 	 The Trial Court failed to rule on Petitioner L&D's separate Motion for Summary 
Judgment regarding abandonment and trespass by Defendant Antero. 

Statement of the Case: 

This case was decided by the Trial Court on cross-motions for summary judgment without 

a hearing or taking of evidence. The Record consists of depositions, Rule 56 supporting affidavits, 

and discovery responses including production of documents. The Trial Court granted summary 

judgment for Respondent Mike Ross, Inc., [MRI] which claimed that it was the 80% owner of a 

mineral tract sold at a tax sale in November 2001 even though there were multiple separate real 

property assessments being paid by Petitioners and several co-owners, who clearly owned an interest 

in the mineral property at the time of the tax sale. Moreover, none of the Petitioners received actual 

notice, notwithstanding that their identity as owners and their addresses were available in Harrison 

County Courthouse records. 

This quiet title action was filed in 2013 when Petitioners learned for the first time in 2013 

that their undivided interests in a 1000 acre tract of mineral property located in Sycamore District, 
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Harrison County [Mineral Tract] was being claimed by Respondent MRI as a result of a tax sale 

deed issued on April 1, 2003. No post-sale notices to redeem regarding the purported 2000 

delinquency were sent to the Petitioners, nor several co-owners of the Mineral Tract. [JA 316-26]. I 

Petitioners and other co-owners had separate assessments generated by the Assessor in 1990 

pursuant to the Tax Commission's 1988 policy [JA 176], and they had been paying such separate 

tax assessments on the Mineral Tract since 1990. Petitioners had no knowledge that the original tax 

assessment in the name of Charles Lee Andrews, account 06428181, who died in 1948, had gone 

delinquent for tax year 2000, nor did they receive any notice of such purported delinquency. 

The Petitioners, including Petitioner L&D Investments, Inc.'s [L&D] predecessor in title, 

Catherine Lee Tschappat [Tschappat], had received undivided interests in the Mineral Tract through 

wills, deeds, and other valid transfer instruments over the years, as this property had been in their 

family for almost 150 years. Tschappat owned at least a 71225 interest as she was the granddaughter 

of Mary Catherine Lee Andrews, the wife of Richard Snowden Andrews, who were the original 

owners of the Mineral Tract. Tschappat's children sold their interest to Petitioner L&D in March 

2013. [JA 146-49]. Petitioner Richard Snowden Andrews, Jr., who owns at least a 4/45 interest, is 

the great-grandson of Mary Catherine Lee Andrews, and he was the Trustee for his sister Marion 

A. Young, who owned at least a 2/45 interest. Combined, the Petitioners own 16.44% interest in the 

Mineral Tract. 3 Respondents MRI and Antero did not dispute that these ownership interests in the 

Mineral Tract were vested in Petitioners through wills, heirship, and deeds, subject to the validity 

of MRl's tax sale deed. [JA 1406-08]. The Respondents did not dispute such fact because the chain 

of title documents filed in the Clerk's, Assessor's, and Sheriff's Offices unequivocally established 

their chain of title ownership.4 This is also the chain of title that MRI failed to discover, either 

I The Joint Appendix for this Appeal is referenced herein as "[JA -1". 

2 Harrison County Clerk [Clerk], Assessor [Assessor] and Sheriff's [Sheriff] Offices. 

3 These percentages could change depending on the disposition of the undivided interests of 
other co-tenant Defendants for whom their status and that of their heirs is unknown at this time. 

4 Antero's own title examination also determined that ownership in the Mineral Tract was not 
vested 80% in MRI as contended by MRI and accepted by the Trial Court. This was affirmed by Antero's 
ownership chart introduced in this case [JA 1407-08] and its correspondence to L&D acknowledging the 
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through negligence, in violation of the statutory mandates (§ llA-3-19), or as Petitioners asserted 

below, intentionally and/or recklessly to keep the benefit of a really good bargain, i.e. 1000 acres of 

already producing mineral property for $6,000. [JA 998, 1000-08,1174-76, & 1185-91]. 

Also, neither of the Respondents, MRI and Antero, disputed that actual notice could have 

been provided to Petitioners because it was clear that documents filed in the Courthouse contained 

the identities and addresses of Petitioners. However, the Trial Court, without identifying any 

supporting facts in the Record, concluded that MRI acted with reasonable due diligence in 

attempting to locate those persons entitled to be notified of the tax sale. [JA 41 & 44-45]. This 

finding was supported only by the Trial Court's determination that because the separate 

assessments, even though categorized by the Assessor as real property assessments, were personal 

property assessments and that somehow rendered them "never properly and validly assessed" for 

notice purposes. Such finding was unsupported by any facts as the Petitioners were the true owners 

by wills, deeds and heirship to the real property interest in the Mineral Tract, but also such holding 

was nonsensical as regardless of how Petitioners' assessments were categorized, they were 

discoverable by a diligent search. For example, MRI's own discovery documents demonstrated that 

MRI failed to diligently search Courthouse records for the Will of Rosalie Forester Cooper,s 

Petitioner L&D' s predecessor in title which would have led any competent title examiner to learn 

that Catherine Lee Tschappat was an heir and in turn a quick review of the Assessor's, Clerk's and 

Sheriff's records would have confirmed that Tschappat had been paying separate duplicate tax 

assessments since 1990 and would have also disclosed her current address. [JA 134-40; 644, 654 

& 428-87]. The same is true for records that would have disclosed Richard Snowden Andrews, 

lr.'s connection to the Mineral Tract. 6 

same. [JA 1491-93]. Other title examinations, like the 1998 report of Bryan J. Karickhoff, available to 
the Trial Court, were of the same opinion that Petitioners were the owners of an undivided interest in the 
Mineral Tract. [JA 1194-1201]. 

5 Rosalie Forester Cooper's Will was filed in Harrison County in 1986 and devised part of her 
interest in the Mineral Tract to her daughter Catherine Lee Tschappat. 

6 Documents filed in the Harrison County Courthouse prior to the tax sale and that referenced 
Petitioner Richard Snowden Andrews, Jr. and Marion A. Young's ownership in the Mineral Tract should 
have been located through due diligence. [JA 602, 613-15, 616-18, & 488-592]; however, the most 
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Also, the Trial Court erroneously found that Petitioners had to show by clear and convincing 

evidence that MRI "failed to conduct a duly diligent record search." The shifting of the clear and 

convincing burden of proof from MRI to Petitioners is contrary to this Court's prior holdings7 and 

seriously undermines the Trial Court's factual finding that MRI exercised due diligence. This 

erroneous legal conclusion alone warrants reversal. 

The only Affidavits in the Record were Petitioners. A substantive Rule 56 Affidavit by 

attorney Gary W. Morris was filed based on his review of the Harrison County Courthouse records, 

and discovery produced in the case at that time. Attorney Morris determined that Petitioner L&D, 

through its predecessor Catherine Lee Tschappat, had good title and ownership to the Mineral Tract. 

[JA 661-62]. Attorney Morris also attested that Petitioners Richard Snowden Andrews, Jr. and the 

Marion A. Young Trust, for which Richard Snowden Andrews, Jr. was the Trustee, likewise had 

good title and ownership to the Mineral Tract. [JA 668-70]. Petitioner Richard Snowden Andrews, 

Jr. also filed an Affidavit confirming that his address was the same as contained in the Assessor's 

records including during years 1999 through 2004. [JA 1226-29 &1206-07]. 

Attorney Morris's Affidavit confirmed four important facts that were essentially uncontested 

and which should have prohibited the granting of summary judgment against Petitioners: 

1. 	 That Petitioners had record title ownership to the Mineral Tract; [JA 661-70]; 

2. 	 That the multiple assessments and tax notices were for the same 1000 acre tract; [d. 

3. 	 That actual notice was not provided to any of the Petitioners even though their 

identity and addresses were available to "any competent attorney or person diligently 

reviewing the records of the Clerk, Assessor and Sheriff." /d.; and, 

4. 	 That the Assessor's Producer/Operator reports would have contained the royalty 

significant document was the Assessor's Producer/Operator reports which provided the names and 
addresses of all persons with an ownership interest in the Mineral Tract including all the Petitioners. [JA 
1203-1225] 

7 "Importantly, in suits seeking to set aside a tax sale deed, it is the tax sale grantee who bears 
the burden of proving full compliance with the statutory and due process notice requirements." Kebler v. 
WVT. LLC, 213 F.Supp. 3d. 789, 794 (NDWV 2016) (citing Rebuild America. Inc. v. Davis, 229 W.Va. 
86,726 S.E.2d 396, 404 (W.Va. 2012); Mason v. Smith, 233 W. Va. 673, 760 S.E.2d 487, 494 (W.Va. 

2014»). 
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owners information. [JA 668-69 & fn 3]. 

Attorney Morris also determined that the producing wells identified in the Land Book 

descriptions for the original assessment in Charles Lee Andrews' name (06428181) and the 

Petitioners' separate assessments, 06682869 (Catherine Lee Tschappat/L&D), 06679490 (Richard 

Snowden Andrews's Heirs), 06779221 (Richard Andrews's Agent) could have been cross 

referenced demonstrating that all the assessments were for the same Mineral Tract. This was also 

confirmed by Deputy Assessor Denise Palmer in her deposition. Ms. Palmer also confirmed that had 

someone searched the Assessor's records and those of the Clerk and Sheriff at any time after 1990, 

they would have discovered all ofTschappat' s ownership and tax information relating to the Mineral 

Tract. [JA 863-64]. Perhaps, Ms. Palmer's most important testimony was that MRI could have 

searched the Assessor's Integrated Assessment System [lAS] and identified all persons who were 

listed as owners of the Mineral Tract by its acreage and/or well numbers, which were both listed on 

the multiple tax tickets. [JA 865-67]. The Assessor's lAS contained the names and current addresses 

of the Petitioners at the time MRI was required to examine the ownership records and provide actual 

notice to all persons with an interest in the Mineral Tract and it would also have alerted them to the 

separate assessments and payment of all assessed taxes. [JA 1203-1225]. 

Because the Assessor's records maintain all Wells on each mineral parcel, all the Well 

numbers associated with the Mineral Tract would have been discoverable with due diligence. These 

Assessor's records, which are part ofthe Assessor's lAS, were cross referenced to all of the Mineral 

Tract's owners names including the Petitioners, co-owners Robert Hitzelberger, Phyllis Fletcher 

Saunders, and others. [JA 1230-1287]. These records, demonstrate how the Wells, the owners 

names, and tax accounts are related. For instance, the screenshot entries on [ JA 1245], created on 

December 22, 2000 for tax year 2001, show the relationship of Dominion Well 4139 with the 

Charles Lee Andrews's tax account 06428181. Successive screenshots show Richard Andrews's 

association with that Dominion Well 4139 [JA 1246 & 169] and the Charles Lee Andrews account 

06428181 and subsequent screenshots [JA 1247 & 169] associate Robert Hitzelberger, Phyllis 

Saunders, and Richard Snowden Andrews Agent with Well 4139 and also associates them with the 

Charles Lee Andrews account 06428181. The remaining screenshots [JA 1248-49] associate 

Catherine Lee Tschappat, Marion Young and others with both Well 4139 and Charles Lee Andrews's 
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account 06428181. Other documents available in the Courthouse [JA 1230-87] make similar 

associations among wells on the Mineral Tract with persons having any type of ownership in the 

minerals including a property ownership in the Mineral Tract and the various separate tax accounts 

by which they were assessed and taxed. 

Any title examiner worth his or her salt, who had performed a diligent search of the recorded 

records, i.e. really wanted to identify the property owners, would have learned of the chain of title 

for the Petitioners and the co-owners and then could have accessed the Assessor's lAS records for 

names and addresses for those paying taxes in separate accounts or those still associated with the 

original Charles Lee Andrews account 06428181. Failure to have done such search, and then seek 

to deprive these rightful owners of their property was intentional and/or done with reckless disregard 

for the rights of those owners of the Mineral Tract. To put it bluntly it was a travesty.8 

Importantly, Phillip E. Scarberry, one of the lay persons hired by MRI to examine the title 

and opine as to whom notice to redeem should be provided, testified that he was unaware of the lAS 

data maintained in the Assessors Office even though MRl's title file documents. [JA 940-42 & 

657]. The Assessor's records also disclosed that the some of the Andrews Heirs who separated their 

interests in 1999 for Account 06428181 also did so for Richard Snowden Andrews Heirs account 

06679490, was linked to We114139 and disclosing the names and addresses of all the Andrews 

Heirs, including the Petitioners. [JA 1203]. MRI had many of these Well numbers in the title 

examination documents produced in discovery and in the Record of this case. see, fn. 9, infra. The 

Richard Snowden Andrews Heirs, who are identified in the Assessor documents, also had a clear 

8 It is obvious that MRI, having not made a diligent examination of the title documents, had no 
idea what interest or whose interests it had purchased at the tax sale, if any; the Heirs of Phyllis Fletcher 
Saunders, co-owners of the Mineral Tract and Defendants in this case, requested in 2005 (JA 395-419], 
within the three year redemption period after MRI's tax Deed was issued, why their royalties were being 
held in suspense due to MRI claiming their interest in the Mineral Tract when they were paying a 
separate tax assessment on the same property; Dominion, the owner/operator of Well (CNG/2088-API 
3280), which was also listed on the tax tickets and Land Books of most of the Mineral Tract owners 
including Tschappat, rejected MRI's claim after confirming with the Assessor, Saunders separate tax 
assessment and informed MRI that it would no longer be considered the owner of the Saunders interest; 
MRI did nothing to contest or preserve what it has now claimed in this case and which the Trial Court, in 
determining that the separate assessments were personal property. held in its Omnibus Order; MRI's 
total acceptance of Dominion's and the Assessor's determination is clear recognition by MRI that the 
separate assessments controlled the ownership question. 
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chain of title recorded in Harrison County prior to the 2001 tax sale [JA 1406-08] like the title report 

by Attorney Bryan J. Karickhoff [JA 1194-1201], and should have led any competent examiner 

to conclude that these tax assessments were for the same mineral property. 

Attorney Morris opined in his Affidavit that such common wells for these related persons in 

the Mineral Tract's chain of title would have alerted a competent examiner exercising due diligence 

to have sought out the well owner's information in the Assessor's lAS system, even though at the 

time his Affidavit was prepared, those Assessor documents had not yet been produced in discovery. 

[JA 668-69 & fn 3]. Of course, the Trial Court knew that actual notice was not provided to the 

Petitioners by MRI, so either MRI's lay title examiners failed to locate those Assessor 

Producer/Operator reports with owner names and addresses, or they found them and ignored them. 

This alone creates a question of fact. 

These facts were important as the Trial Court held that while MRI could not find Petitioners

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