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

with respect to the ownership of the Andrews Tract rendered the pooling question moot. See 

Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608, 612, 466 S.E.2d 459, 463 (1995) ("[I]t is generally within the 

discretion of the court as to whether it will take jurisdiction to enter or decline to enter a 

declaratory judgment, and also the manner in which it is done, but such discretion cannot be 
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abused.") (citations omitted); State ex reI. Piper v. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 792, 796, 724 S.E.2d 

763, 767 (2012) ("[G]enerally, the decision to entertain a declaratory judgment action is 

addressed to the discretion of the trial court.") (citation omitted). 

In any event, Antero has the right to pool not only the Andrews Lease but also the Post, 

Cottrill, and Stutler Leases. Specifically, Antero has the express right to pool the Andrews Lease 

because L&D's predecessors-in-title authorized pooling on the 1,041 acre tract. See J.A. at 

1130-36. Notably, L&D concedes that the pooling issue is moot to the extent that this Court 

affirms the Circuit Court's holding that L&D does not have an interest in the Andrews Lease. 

Pet'rs' Br. at 30. 

Antero also has the express right to pool the Post Lease, which provides for pooling by 

stating that the purpose of the lease is to "operate for and produce oil and gas ... incident to and 

convenient for the economical operation of this land alone and conjointly with other lands for the 

production, transportation and marketing of oil and gas." lA. at 1427; see also Stern v. 

Columbia Gas Transmission LLC, No. 5: 15-CV-98, 2016 WL 7053702, at *2 (N.D. W. Va. Dec. 

5,2016) (finding express right to pool based on identical language). 

Moreover, Antero has the implied right to pool the Stutler and Cottrill Leases. As a 

threshold matter, pooling modifications merely regulate the allocation of royalties in a larger 

unit; such modifications are not necessary for the right to pool oil and gas interests, which is a 

development decision at any rate. See 4 Williams & Meyers, Oil and Gas Law § 670 (2016). 

Accordingly, Antero has the implied right to pool the Stutler and Cottrill Leases, as the 

"sole and only purpose" of both leases is for the operation of oil and gas. See Taylor v. Buffalo 

Collieries Co., 72 W. Va. 353, 353, 79 S.E. 27, 29 (1913) ("When a contract is made for the 

accomplishment of one main purpose, as is usually the case, it is necessarily the purpose of both 
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parties, the thing on which their minds met, and as to which they are in perfect accord; and every 

provision of the contract must be read in the light of such purpose. In other words, the whole 

instrument must be considered in seeking its true meaning.") (citations omitted). 

Antero's implied right to pool the Stutler and Cottrill Leases is further bolstered by 

Antero's implied duty to develop, which is inextricably linked to the implied duty to prevent 

drainage. See Syl. Pt. 2, St. Luke's United Methodist Church v. CNG Dev. Co., 222 W. Va. 185, 

663 S.E.2d 639 (2008) ("In the absence ofan express provision requiring the lessee to protect the 

leased premises from drainage by oil or gas wells on adjacent property, an implied obligation 

will be read into the lease to give such protection.") (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Adkins v. Huntington 

Dev. & Gas Co., 113 W. Va. 490, 168 S.E. 366 (1932)). Moreover, ifAntero exercises its rights 

to pool, L&D is also afforded protections under the duty of good faith and fair dealing implied in 

every contract under West Virginia law. See Evans v. United Bank, Inc., 235 W. Va. 619, 628, 

775 S.E.2d 500,509 (2015). 

The "reasonable and necessary use" doctrine supports Antero's implied right to pool the 

Stutler and Cottrill Leases as well because pooling is both reasonably necessary for development 

of the Marcellus Shale formation and does not impose a substantial burden, if any, on L&D. See 

Buffalo Mining Co. v. Martin, 165 W. Va. 10,267 S.E.2d 721 (1980). 

Antero's right to pool the Stutler and Cottri11 leases is also implied by West Virginia'S 

general conservation statutes for oil and gas, which should give rise to equitable pooling. See, 

e.g., Superior Oil Co. v. Magee, 87 So. 2d 280, 282 (Miss. 1956); Superior Oil Co. v. Beery, 64 

So. 2d 357, 358 (Miss. 1953); Griffith v. GulfRef Co., 60 So. 2d 518 (Miss. 1952). 

Furthermore, the implied right to pool also furthers West Virginia's public policy in favor 

of oil and gas development. See, e.g., W. Va. Code § 55-12A-l (2017); W. Va. Code § 5B-2H
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2; § 22-6A-2(a)(8); W. Va. Code §§ 22-6A-l, et seq. and 22-6B-2, et seq.; see also McGregor v. 

Camden, 47 W. Va. 193, 197,34 S.E. 936, 937 (1899). 

Finally, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by holding that L&D failed to 

demonstrate it is entitled to relief under West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 59 and 52. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

In accordance with West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a), oral argument is 

not necessary on this appeal because the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided. 

The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record, and the 

decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. In addition, this appeal is 

appropriate for disposition by memorandum decision under the criteria of West Virginia Rule of 

Appellate Procedure 21(c) because there is no prejudicial error. 

V. STANDARDS OF DECISION AND REVIEW 

A party is entitled to summary judgment under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 

56( c) if the "pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together 

with the affidavits, if any, [show] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that 

the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c). In 

Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52,459 S.E.2d 329 (1995), this Court established 

the following standard of decision for motions for summary judgment: 

2. Summary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence 
presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the 
nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a 
sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to 
prove. 

3. If the moving party makes a properly supported motion for summary 
judgment and can show by affirmative evidence that there is no genuine issue of a 
material fact, the burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party who must 
either (1) rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce 
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additional evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) 
submit an affidavit explaining why further discovery is necessary as provided in 
Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Id at Syl. Pts. 2, 3; see also Syl. Pt. 3, Guthrie v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 158 W. Va. 1, 208 

S.E.2d 60 (1974) (holding that "[s]ummary judgment cannot be defeated on the basis of factual 

assertions contained in the brief of the party opposing a motion for such judgment"). 

This Court reviews a circuit court's entry of summary judgment de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, 

Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). On appeal, the Court applies the 

same test that the circuit court should have applied initially. See Conrad v. ARA Szabo, 198 W. 

Va. 362,480 S.E.2d 801 (1996). The Court is not bound by the circuit court's rationale, but may 

rule on any alternate ground manifest in the record. Id 

West Virginia Code Section 55-13-1 governs the standard of decision for a declaratory 

judgment: 

Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare 
rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be 
claimed. No action or proceeding shall be open to objection on the ground that a 
declaratory judgment or decree is prayed for. The declaration may be either 
affirmative or negative in form and effect; and such declarations shall have the 
force and effect ofa final judgment or decree. 

W. Va. Code § 55-13-1 (2017); see also W. Va. R. Civ. P. 57. 

This Court also reviews a circuit court's entry or denial of a declaratory judgment de 

novo. Syl. Pt. 2, Mountain Lodge Ass 'n v. Crum & Forster Indem. Co., 210 W. Va. 536, 558 

S.E.2d 336 (2001) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608,466 S.E.2d 459 (1995)). 

Under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 59, the reconsideration of a judgment after 

its entry is an extraordinary remedy, which should be used sparingly. Mey v. Pep Boys - Manny, 

Moe & Jack, 228 W. Va. 48, 57, 717 S.E.2d 235,244 (2011). In Mey, this Court established the 

following standard of decision for motions to alter or amend judgments under Rule 59: 
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A motion under Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure should 
be granted where: (1) there is an intervening change in controlling law; (2) new 
evidence not previously available comes to light; (3) it becomes necessary to 
remedy a clear error oflaw or (4) to prevent obvious injustice. 

Id. at Syi. Pt. 2. 

"The standard of review applicable to an appeal from a motion to alter or amend a 

judgment, made pursuant to W. Va. R. Civ. P. 59(e) is the same standard that would apply to the 

underlying judgment upon which the motion is based and from which the appeal to this Court is 

filed." Syi. Pt. 1, Wickland v. Am. Travellers Life Ins. Co., 204 W. Va. 430, 513 S.E.2d 657 

(1998). However, an abuse of discretion standard is used in reviewing a circuit court's decision 

to grant or deny a motion under Rule 59. See Venegas-Hernandez v. Sonolux Records, 370 F.3d 

183 (1st Cir. 2004). 

VI. 	 ARGUMENT4 

A. 	 The Circuit Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion To Deny L&D's Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment And Grant Summary Judgment To Antero 
Because L&D Failed To Adequately Plead Its Claim And Because The 
Pooling Issue Was Moot. 

As a threshold matter, the Circuit Court properly denied L&D's motion for summary 

judgment on "unauthorized" pooling, both as a matter of law and as moot. Accordingly, the 

Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment to Antero. The grant of a declaratory 

judgment under West Virginia Code Section 55-13-1, et seq. is always discretionary. As this 

Court stated in Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608, 466 S.E.2d 459 (1995), "[i]t is generally within 

the discretion of the court as to whether it will take jurisdiction to enter or decline to enter a 

4 Antero addresses only L&D's sixth assignment oferror because it is the only assignment of error in which 
Antero has an interest. But cf W. Va. R. App. P. tOed) ("Unless otherwise provided by the Court, the argument 
section of the respondent's brief must specifically respond to each assignment of error, to the fullest extent possible. 
If the respondent's brief fails to respond to an assignment of error, the Court will assume that the respondent agrees 
with the petitioner's view of the issue."). As explained above, Antero has maintained its status as an impartial and 
unbiased stakeholder with no interest in the ownership dispute between L&D and the other mineral owners. See J.A. 
at 1116. 
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declaratory judgment, and also the manner in which it is done, but such discretion cannot be 

abused." Id. at 612, 466 S.E.2d at 463 (alteration in original) (quoting Hall v. Hartley, 146 W. 

Va. 328,332, 119 S.E.2d 759, 762 (1961)). 

Justice Cleckley further underscored a circuit court's discretionary power in his Cox 

concurrence: 

The [Declaratory Judgment] Act does not itself mandate that circuit courts 
entertain declaratory judgments; rather, the Act makes available an added 
anodyne for disputes that come within the circuit courts' jurisdiction. It serves a 
valuable purpose. It is designed to enable litigants to clarify legal rights and 
obligations before acting upon them. Because the Act offers a window of 
opportunity, not a guarantee of access, the courts, not the litigants, ultimately 
must determine when declaratory judgments are appropriate and when they are 
not. Consequently, circuit courts retain substantial discretion in deciding whether 
to grant declaratory relief. As we have stated in other contexts, the Declaratory 
Judgment Act neither imposes an unflagging duty upon the courts to decide 
declaratory judgment actions nor grants an entitlement to litigants to demand 
declaratory remedies. 

Cox, 195 W. Va. at 618, 466 S.E.2d at 469 (Cleckley, J., concurring) (citations omitted). 

More recently, in State ex reI. Piper v. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 792, 724 S.E.2d 763 (2012), 

this Court reiterated that, "[g]enerally, the decision to entertain a declaratory judgment action is 

addressed to the discretion of the trial court." Id. at 796, 724 S.E.2d at 767 (alteration in 

original) (quoting Christian v. Sizemore, 181 W. Va. 628,632,383 S.E.2d 810,814 (1989)). 

In its order denying L&D's motion for reconsideration, the Circuit Court stated: 

A final ground being a separate claim deemed similarly sufficient by Plaintiff, 
L&D Investments Inc., for purposes of inclusion in this civil action that this Court 
must either reverse its related rulings contained in its Omnibus Order or otherwise 
amend so that such separate claim may be maintained on this Court's docket for 
further proceedings. This Court may so act but, it won't. 

J.A. at 0072 (emphasis added). 

The Circuit Court was well within its rights under Cox to deny L&D's motion for partial 

summary judgment against Antero. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion because L&D 
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failed to adequately plead a claim against Antero based on "unauthorized" pooling. Contrary to 

L&D's bald assertion that it had raised two separate and distinct claims for "unauthorized" 

pooling (Pet'rs' Br. at 30), neither the Complaint, nor First Amended Complaint, nor Second 

Amended Complaint adequately plead a cause of action for "unauthorized" pooling under the 

Andrews, Cottrill, Post, and Stutler Leases. 

As this Court previously cautioned: "[A] lawyer has a duty to plead and prove his case in 

accordance with established court rules .... Further, '[a] skeletal "argument", really nothing 

more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim. . . . Judges are not like pigs, hunting for 

truffles buried in briefs.'" State ex rei. Robert Michael B. v. Robert Morris N., 195 W. Va. 759, 

765,466 S.E.2d 827,833 (1995) (third alteration in original) (citations omitted). 

Moreover, L&D cannot rely on its summary judgment briefs to amend its deficient 

pleadings. For example, in Marcus v. Holley, 217 W. Va. 508, 618 S.E.2d 517 (2005), this Court 

determined that a claim raised for the first time in response to a motion for summary judgment 

did not serve to amend the complaint. Id. at 518, 618 S.E.2d at 527; see also Miller v. Jack, No. 

1:06-CV-64, 2007 WL 2050409, at *4 (N.D. W. Va. July 12, 2007) ("[A] plaintiff may not 

amend his complaint through arguments in his brief in opposition to summary judgment."). 

Even under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)'s generous pleading standard,S 

the Circuit Court was not obligated to go on a hunting expedition for a claim with respect to 

''unauthorized'' pooling. Neither the initial Complaint nor the First Amended Complaint 

identified the particular properties or leases at issue.6 See J.A. at 1716-17, 1754. Moreover, 

5 "A pleading which sets forth a claim for relief, whether an original claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or 
third-party claim, shall contain (I) a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to 
relief, and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief the pleader seeks. Relief in the alternative or of several types 
may be demanded ...." w. Va. R. Civ. P. 8(a). 

6 L&D's Second Amended Complaint incorporated its "prior Complaint and Amended Complaints." J.A. 
at 1702. The Second Amended Complaint did not include a separate numbered paragraph with respect to pooling. 
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L&D identified the Cottrill and Post Leases for the first time in its motion for summary judgment 

regarding "unauthorized" pooling.7 See J.A. at 1411. Accordingly, L&D failed to adequately 

plead its ''unauthorized'' pooling claim, and the Circuit Court therefore was under no obligation 

to rule on L&D' s separate motion for summary judgment. 

The Circuit Court also properly exercised its discretion to deny as moot L&D's separate 

motion for summary judgment and grant summary judgment to Antero because the Circuit 

Court's declaration with respect to the ownership of the Andrews Lease was fully dispositive of 

all matters properly before the Circuit Court. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err where it 

denied, both as a matter of law and as moot, L&D' s motion for summary judgment on 

''unauthorized'' pooling. 

B. 	 Antero Has The Right To Pool The Andrews, Post, Stutler, and Cottrill 
Leases. 

In any event, as Antero argued in the Circuit Court, L&D is not entitled to declaratory 

relief with respect to the "unauthorized" pooling issue because Antero has the right to pool the

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